# Interactions between Livestock and Wildlife in Alaska: Guidelines for Mitigating Risks

Alaska Department of Fish and Game



©2020 Travel Juneau. Used with permission.



# Interactions between Livestock and Wildlife in Alaska: Guidelines for Mitigating Risks

#### **APPROVED BY:**

Ryan Scott Director

#### **REVIEWED BY:**

Darren Bruning
Deputy Director

Sue Goodglick Habitat Biologist

Kimberlee B. Beckmen Lead Veterinarian

## **PUBLISHED BY:**

Sally Kieper Technical Reports Editor

©2025 Alaska Department of Fish and Game

Alaska Department of Fish and Game Division of Wildlife Conservation PO Box 115526 Juneau, AK 99811-5526



Hunters are important founders of the modern wildlife conservation movement. They, along with trappers and sport shooters, provided funding for this publication through payment of federal taxes on firearms, ammunition, and archery equipment, and through state hunting license and tag fees. These taxes and fees fund the federal Wildlife Restoration Program and the State of Alaska's Fish and Game Fund, which provided funding for the work reported on in this publication.

Special Publications include reports that do not fit in other categories in the division series, such as techniques manuals, special subject reports to decision making bodies, symposia and workshop proceedings, policy reports, and in-house course materials.

This Wildlife Special Publication was reviewed and approved for publication by Ryan Scott, Director of the Division of Wildlife Conservation.

Wildlife Special Publications are available via the Alaska Department of Fish and Game's public website (www.adfg.alaska.gov) or by contacting Alaska Department of Fish and Game's Division of Wildlife Conservation, PO Box 115526, Juneau, AK 99811-5526; phone: (907) 465-4190; email: dfg.dwc.publications@alaska.gov. The report may also be accessed through most libraries, via interlibrary loan from the Alaska State Library or the Alaska Resources Library and Information Services (www.arlis.org).

This document, published in PDF format only, should be cited as:

Alaska Department of Fish and Game. 2025. Interactions between livestock and wildlife in Alaska: Guidelines for mitigating risks. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Wildlife Conservation, Wildlife Special Publication ADF&G/DWC/WSP-2025-2, Juneau.

Please contact the Division of Wildlife Conservation at (907) 465-4190 if you have questions about the content of this report.

The State of Alaska is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer. The Alaska Department of Fish and Game complies with Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. This document is available in alternative communication formats. If you need assistance, please contact the Department ADA Coordinator via fax at (907) 465-6078;TTY/Alaska Relay 7-1-1 or 1-800-770-8973.

ADF&G does not endorse or recommend any specific company or their products. Product names used in this publication are included for completeness but do not constitute product endorsement.

**Cover Photo:** A nursery group of Dall sheep ewes and lambs on subalpine tundra in early spring. ©2020 Travel Juneau. Used with permission.

## Contents

Introduction
Key Disease Risks
Respiratory Diseases in Wild Ungulates
Brucellosis and Bovine Tuberculosis
Brucella suis Biovar 4
Contagious Ecthyma (Orf Virus)
Moose Winter Tick (Dermacentor albipictus)
Chronic Wasting Disease
Disease Risk Mitigation Measures
Spatial Separation and Buffer Zones
Disease Surveillance and Monitoring
Emergency Response Planning
Regulation and Policy Considerations
Endorsing Organizations.
Wild-Domestic Ungulate Interaction Management
Recommendations Specific to Reindeer Herd Management
Minimize Attractants to Reduce Wildlife Conflicts.
Permits and Authorizations from ADF&G
Review and Adaptive Management
Acknowledgments
References Cited

## Introduction

With domestic livestock grazing activity on Alaska's state lands expected to increase, and in support of broader efforts to strengthen food security, grow local economies, and reduce the state's dependence on external food sources and supply chains, the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G) offers the following guidance to assist state land managers in protecting the health of Alaska's wild ungulate populations. These include species such as Dall sheep (Ovis dalli), mountain goat (Oreamnos americanus), moose (Alces alces), caribou (Rangifer tarandus), elk (Cervus canadensis), Sitka black-tailed deer (Odocoileus hemionus sitkensis), muskox (Ovibos moschatus), and bison (Bison bison).

Disease transmission between domestic livestock and wild ungulates presents a significant risk to both wildlife and livestock health. Pathogens and parasites can spread through direct contact, airborne particles, shared grazing areas, contaminated forage, soil and water sources, or equipment. Preventing the introduction and spread of disease is essential to sustaining both healthy wildlife populations and productive agricultural operations.

In addition to disease prevention, this document outlines best practices for minimizing interactions between wildlife and livestock. These include habitat considerations and strategies for reducing bear conflicts. Responsible livestock husbandry practices can support the multipleuse goals of state lands—where appropriate—by balancing agricultural development with wildlife conservation.

While ADF&G manages designated Special Areas—such as state game refuges, critical habitat areas, and wildlife sanctuaries—it does not oversee general state lands. For lease applications on state lands under the direction of the Alaska Department of Natural Resources (DNR), ADF&G provides input through DNR's agency review process. When DNR requests a Grazing Management Plan (GMP) as part of a lease application package, ADF&G staff evaluate the GMP and offer recommendations tailored to regional conditions and species-specific concerns. All input is compiled into a coordinated departmental response to ensure that recommendations are scientifically sound, consistent, and aligned with ADF&G's mission to protect, maintain, and improve Alaska's fish and wildlife resources and manage their use.

## **Key Disease Risks**

The following sections present a selection of potential disease risks and do not represent an exhaustive list.

#### RESPIRATORY DISEASES IN WILD UNGULATES

Wild ungulate species are susceptible to respiratory infections transmitted from domestic livestock, with members of the wild Caprinae subfamily (sheep and mountain goats) facing elevated risks from contact with domestic sheep and goats (ADF&G, n.d.-a; ADF&G n.d.-b; The Wildlife Society and American Association of Wildlife Veterinarians 2015; Wild Sheep Foundation 2024).

Domestic sheep and goats can carry and transmit strains of Mycoplasma ovipneumoniae (M. ovi), Mannheimia haemolytica, and other respiratory pathogens, which can cause fatal pneumonia in wild sheep (Wild Sheep Foundation 2024) and mountain goats (ADF&G, n.d.-b; Government of Alberta 2021).

If a domestic strain of M. ovi is transmitted to wild sheep or mountain goats, it may spread rapidly due to high transmissibility, the absence of natural immunity, and the infeasibility of any veterinary intervention beyond depopulation.

#### BRUCELLOSIS AND BOVINE TUBERCULOSIS

Brucella abortus and Mycobacterium bovis are bacteria that cause serious diseases, which typically affect domestic cattle and bison but can also cause disease in humans. These pathogens have spread between livestock and wild hoofed animals, especially bison, elk, and deer (Meagher and Meyer 1994, Shury et al. 2015). Although neither disease has been documented in Alaska, they pose a significant risk to wildlife and the domestic livestock industry, which highlights the importance of remaining attentive to the goal of keeping the state free of brucellosis and tuberculosis. Note: Brucella abortus is a different species from Brucella suis; it is relevant to add that the Brucella suis biovar 4 strain is present in Alaska. (Refer to the following section on Brucella suis biovar 4.)

#### **BRUCELLA SUIS** BIOVAR 4

This is a bacterial strain that causes brucellosis, a contagious disease that is enzootic (naturally occurring) in Alaska caribou. In rare instances, exposure to the bacterium has been detected in muskoxen and moose, and brucellosis has been identified as a potential cause of mortality in these species as well. Brucellosis is zoonotic, meaning it can infect humans, and it also poses a risk to the health of domestic pigs and dogs. (Woodford 2010, Beckmen 2021).

## CONTAGIOUS ECTHYMA (ORF VIRUS)

Transmitted from domestic sheep and goats, this disease causes painful lesions; cases of mortality in wild ungulates have been documented in Alaska (Tryland et al. 2018).

## MOOSE WINTER TICK (DERMACENTOR ALBIPICTUS)

This external parasite is spreading north and west among moose populations, and can also be carried by horses, elk, bison, and cattle. It poses a serious threat to moose and caribou populations (ADF&G, n.d.-a; Woodford 2018).

#### CHRONIC WASTING DISEASE

Systematic surveillance for Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) has not been instituted in Alaska, but through casual opportunistic testing, no cases have been detected thus far. However, CWD has been found in cervids in five Canadian provinces, including neighboring British Columbia, and thirty-six U.S. states. Continued surveillance and carcass transport regulations are critical to prevent its introduction (ADF&G, n.d.-c; U.S. Geological Survey 2025).

## **Disease Risk Mitigation Measures**

## SPATIAL SEPARATION AND BUFFER ZONES

Separation is a mitigation strategy that helps to prevent disease transmission:

- Maintaining adequate distance between domestic livestock and wildlife is essential to reducing transmission risks and minimizing potential pathways for spread (The Wildlife Society and American Association of Wildlife Veterinarians 2015). Spatial separation is a proven, evidence-based method for reducing the likelihood of outbreaks.
- This approach is especially critical during high-risk periods—such as the Dall sheep, elk, and mountain goat rutting seasons—when animals naturally congregate in large numbers, increasing the potential for disease spread.
- Pathogens can be spread without physical contact—through air, feces, urine, contaminated forage, or shared tools and surfaces.
- Airborne disease transmission can spread over long distances, especially with favorable wind or weather conditions (Christensen et al. 1990, Kanankege et al. 2022).

Wild sheep and mountain goat habitat should not be used for domestic sheep and goat production when there is a risk of disease transmission:

- Where ADF&G identifies high disease risk, domestic sheep and goats—including hobby and companion animals—should not be grazed, transported, or kept within 10 miles of wild sheep and mountain goat habitat that is above 3,000 feet in elevation.
- A 10-mile buffer helps prevent disease and matches expert recommendations. Some studies suggest even wider buffers—up to 31 miles (Government of Alberta 2021, Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies 2025).

For fencing guidelines, consider the following:

- Use durable, well-maintained fencing to prevent contact between domestic and wild ungulates (Manlove 2020). Maintenance includes keeping the perimeter free of snow.
- However, fencing may not be appropriate in all areas. For example, in moose habitat, fencing can disrupt movement corridors or separate cows from their calves. A sitespecific assessment is recommended.
- Follow Alaska DNR guidelines for fencing captive ungulates, such as the elk fencing standards outlined in Alaska Statutes (AS) 03.05.075. Additional guidance is available in *Elk Fencing Guidelines* (DNR 2004).

### DISEASE SURVEILLANCE AND MONITORING

Disease testing efforts in wild ungulates are ongoing. ADF&G and the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC) will continue to conduct risk assessments. Both agencies will maintain their respective disease tracking databases. Existing disease testing regulations and recommendations for domestic livestock will be reassessed with consultation from the State Veterinarian's office on current protocols and requirements. For more information on ADF&G's wildlife disease surveillance and monitoring efforts, visit:

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=disease.diseaselist.

### **EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLANNING**

Response plans for diseases of concern will incorporate the following:

- Encourage DNR Division of Agriculture to collaborate with livestock producers to ensure they can quarantine their animals, consistent with the regulations of the State Veterinarian's Office (DEC) and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA).
- Develop educational materials and outreach strategies to inform landowners and the public about disease-related concerns.
- Coordinate veterinarians, biologists, and landowners to prepare for implementation of response plan(s).

## REGULATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

Effective disease prevention and response require coordination, informed policy, and timely communication among agencies, land users, and the public:

- While disease and weather are beyond wildlife management control, hunting regulations remain an important tool to mitigate risks.
- In 2012, the Board of Game banned the use of sheep and goats as pack animals for hunting due to disease risks.
- Lessees are strongly encouraged to report wild cervid incursions promptly. If freeranging deer, elk, or other cervids enter a fenced area on a grazing lease on state land, notify ADF&G immediately to assess disease transmission risk and determine appropriate wildlife management actions.
- ADF&G recommends enhancing coordination among wildlife, land management, and agriculture agencies to strengthen disease prevention and response.
- Residents and nonresidents spend considerable amounts of money associated with hunting and wildlife viewing in Alaska. Disease outbreak could result in a loss of hunting and viewing opportunities, which would mean significant economic losses for Alaska's hunting and tourism industries.

#### **ENDORSING ORGANIZATIONS**

The following organizations support recommendations aimed at reducing disease transmission between wildlife and domestic livestock:

- The Alaska Chapter of The Wildlife Society
- The Alaska Wild Sheep Foundation and the national Wild Sheep Foundation
- The American Association of Wildlife Veterinarians
- U.S. Department of Agriculture
- Canadian provincial and territorial wildlife management ministries in British Columbia, the Northwest Territories, and the Yukon Territory
- Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (WAFWA)
  - o WAFWA defines "effective separation" as maintaining sufficient spatial and temporal distance between domestic livestock and wildlife to prevent disease transmission.
  - WAFWA discourages the presence of domestic sheep and goats where wild ungulate conservation is a goal. More details can be found in Recommendations for Domestic Sheep and Goat Management in Wild Sheep Habitat (WAFWA 2025).

## **Wild-Domestic Ungulate Interaction Management**

In addition to disease risk mitigation, interactions between wild and domestic ungulates must be prevented to minimize the potential for crossbreeding and hybridization, which can impact genetic integrity and wildlife management goals.

## RECOMMENDATIONS SPECIFIC TO REINDEER HERD MANAGEMENT

To reduce conflict with caribou and support responsible reindeer management, consider the following practices:

- Build corrals before acquiring reindeer to ensure secure handling.
- Maintain regular communication with ADF&G and provide updates on winter locations and herd size.
- Clearly mark all reindeer during caribou hunting seasons to ensure hunters can easily distinguish them and avoid accidental shootings.
- Relocate reindeer if caribou approach within 50 miles to avoid intermingling, herd loss, and disease transmission.

## Minimize Attractants to Reduce Wildlife Conflicts.

To avoid attracting wildlife and prevent dangerous encounters or unnecessary removals, follow these best practices:

- Store all fuel, trash, livestock feed, human food provisions, and other potential attractants securely when not in use. Use containers that are approved as bear resistant. Containers must be made of durable materials such as metal or hard-sided plastic and have tight-fitting lids with secure latches.
  - o Secure containers do not eliminate risk; attractants should not be left unattended, especially when no one is present at the site.
- To avoid attracting carnivores, livestock carcasses must be disposed of promptly and appropriately:
  - Dead livestock suspected of having infectious or contagious diseases must be disposed of under the guidance and authorization of the State Veterinarian. Contact your local veterinarian or the Office of the State Veterinarian at 907-375-8215 (DEC 2025).
  - o Options include burial, burning, or removal. Consider soil type, water table depth, and equipment impact.
  - o Burials should follow DEC and USDA recommendations, which include at least 2 feet of soil cover, 10 feet of separation from groundwater, burial depth of 3 to 10 feet, and the use of lime to reduce odor and deter scavengers (USDA 2023, DEC 2025).
  - o GPS tracking can be utilized to monitor livestock and quickly locate carcasses.
- Improper storage of attractants and careless carcass disposal are considered negligent and may be treated as the illegal feeding of wildlife. Cases in which a predator is dispatched as a direct result of unsecured attractants or inadequate carcass disposal do not qualify as Defense of Life and Property.
- Encourage calving near secured or supervised areas to minimize bear predation and improve calf survival rates.
- Use electric fencing with suitable voltage (e.g., 6–10 kV) and maintain a clean fenceline, free of vegetation that can cause electric fences to short-circuit.
- For more information on bear safety and fencing, visit: https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=livingwithbears.main.
- Report wildlife conflicts through ADF&G's Wildlife Encounter Report: https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=reportwildlifeencounter.main.

## Permits and Authorizations from ADF&G

Some activities require permits from ADF&G:

- Obtain a Special Area Permit for activities within ADF&G-managed Special Areas, including grazing leases or other land use
- Obtain a Fish Habitat Permit for activities affecting fish-bearing waters, including water withdrawals, stream crossings, or bank modifications. Most activities near waterbodies that support anadromous fish require a permit.
  - o Domestic livestock in riparian areas can degrade the habitat of fish-bearing streams. Mitigation measures include rotational grazing and the establishment of buffer zones.

## **Review and Adaptive Management**

These guidelines should be reviewed every five years to incorporate new science and field experience.

## **Acknowledgments**

The development of Interactions between Livestock and Wildlife in Alaska: Guidelines for Mitigating Risks was a collaborative effort, reflecting the valuable contributions of numerous staff from the ADF&G Division of Wildlife Conservation. The project was assembled by Sue Goodglick, building on initial work by Mark Nelson and Brad Wendling, who helped develop regional guidelines that laid the foundation for this statewide version. Content expertise was provided by Dr. Kimberlee Beckmen, Brynn Parr, Brad Wendling, and Mark Nelson. The guidelines also draw on insights from ADF&G staff whose previous work on grazing-related issues helped inform the content, including Daniel Alexander Hansen, Manny Eichholz, John Wagoner, Jason Herreman, Kaitlynn Cafferty, and Brad Dunker. Darren Bruning was instrumental in coordinating reviews and providing thoughtful input throughout the development process. Additional review and recommendations were contributed by Nate Svoboda, Tony Gorn, Mark Burch, Marla Carter, and Ryan Scott. Editing support was provided by Sally Kieper.

## **References Cited**

- Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC). 2025. Animal remains and carcass disposal. Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation. Division of Environmental Health, Juneau. https://dec.alaska.gov/eh/solid-waste/how-do-i-dispose-of/animalcarcass/ (Accessed 29 October 2025).
- Alaska Department of Natural Resources (DNR). 2004. Elk fencing guidelines [revised 2004]. Department of Natural Resources, Division of Agriculture, Juneau. https://dnr.alaska.gov/ ag/Inspection/ELKFencingStandards.pdf (Accessed 29 October 2025).
- Alaska Department of Fish and Game. [n.d.-a]. Parasites and diseases. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Juneau. https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=disease.main (Accessed 28 October 2025).
- Alaska Department of Fish and Game. [n.d.-b]. Mycoplasma ovipneumoniae (M. ovi) in Alaska wildlife: Answers to frequently asked questions. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Juneau. https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=hottopics.movi (Accessed 28 October 2025).
- Alaska Department of Fish and Game. [n.d.-c]. Chronic wasting disease program. https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=disease.cwd (Accessed 28 October 2025).
- Beckmen, K. 2021. Increased prevalence of bacteria, *Brucella*, found in Mulchatna caribou [advisory announcement]. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Wildlife Conservation, Palmer. https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/applications/webintra/wcnews/ 2021/releases/01-28-2021.pdf (Accessed 28 October 2025).
- Christensen, L. S., J. Mousing, S. Mortensen, K. J. Sorensen, S. B. Strandbygaard, C. A. Henriksen, and J. B. Andersen. 1990. Evidence of long distance airborne transmission of Aujesky's disease (pseudorabies) virus. The Veterinary Record 127(19):471–474.
- Government of Alberta. 2021. Mountain goat (Oreamnos americanus) and sheep (Ovis canadensis) areas disease buffer: Science support document (December 2021 update). Government of Alberta, Environment and Parks, Edmonton, Cananda. https://open.albert a.ca/dataset/science-support-document-mountain-goat-and-sheep-areas-disease-buffer
- Kanankege, K. S. T., K. Graham, C. A. Corzo, K. VanderWaal, A. M. Perez, and P.A. Durr. 2022. Adapting an atmospheric dispersion model to assess the risk of windborne transmission of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus between swine farms. Viruses 14(8):1658. https://doi.org/10.3390/v14081658
- Manlove, K. R. 2020. Managing domestic and wild caprinae to limit pathogen transmission risk: [Presentation]. Department of Wildland Resources and Ecology Center, Utah State University. Logan, Utah.
- Meagher, M., and W. F. Meyer. 1994. On the origin of brucellosis in bison of Yellowstone National Park: A review. Conservation Biology 8(3):645–653.
- Shury, T. K., J. S. Nishi, and B. T. Elkin. 2015. Bovine tuberculosis and brucellosis in wild bison. Canadian Veterinary Journal 56:215-221.

- Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (WAFWA). 2025. Recommendations for domestic sheep and goat management in wild sheep habitat. Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies Wild Sheep Initiative, Boise, Idaho, USA. https://wafwa.org/wpdm-package/2025-recommendations-for-domestic-sheep-and-goatmanagement-in-wild-sheep-habitat/
- The Wildlife Society and American Association of Wildlife Veterinarians. 2015. Joint issue statement: Domestic sheep and goats disease transmission risk to wild sheep. The Wildlife Society, Nashville, Tennessee. https://wildlife.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/0 3/WS-DS DiseaseTransmission TWS-AAWV JointStatement APPROVED.pdf
- Wild Sheep Foundation. 2024. Keeping wild sheep healthy: What you need to know and what you can do. Wild Sheep Foundation, Bozeman, Montana.
- Woodford, R. 2010. Keeping chronic wasting disease out of Alaska. Alaska Fish & Wildlife News, October 2010. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Wildlife Conservation, Juneau. http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=wildlifenews.view ar ticle&articles id=481
- Woodford, R. 2018. Ticks the focus of new research in Alaska. Alaska Fish & Wildlife News, July 2018. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Wildlife Conservation, Juneau. http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=wildlifenews.view article&articles id=874
- Tryland, M., K. B. Beckmen, K. A. Burek-Huntington, E. M. Breines, and J. Klein. 2018. Orf virus infection in Alaskan mountain goats, Dall's sheep, muskoxen, caribou and Sitka black-tailed deer. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 60:12.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA). 2023. Human health and ecological risk assessment for the use of wildlife damage management methods: Chapter 23 – Carcass disposal. USDA APHIS Wildlife Services. https://www.aphis.usda.gov/sites/default/files/23-carcassdisposal.pdf (Accessed 28 October 2025).
- U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). 2025. Expanding distribution of chronic wasting disease. National Wildlife Health Center. https://www.usgs.gov/centers/nwhc/science/expandingdistribution-chronic-wasting-disease (Accessed 1 October 2025).

